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II. ON SHOTWICK CHURCH AND ITS SAXON FOUNDATION, 

By Joseph Mayer, F.S.A.

Shotwick is a parish in the hundred of Wirral and county of Chester; 
in which are included the townships of Shotwick, Capenhurst, Great 
Saughall and Woodbank. In the township of Shotwick are 570 acres of 
land, with a population of 100, according to the census of 1851 ; which 
shews a decrease of 12 souls, the number having been 112, as recorded in 
the census of 1841.

The termination of the name, Wick, refers to its having once been the site 
of Salt Works of some note ; but they were only worked to a small extent, 
at the time when Leyland wrote his Itinerary, and have now totally 
disappeared.

At the time of the Conquest, we find recorded in the Domesday Book, 
" Sotowiche was held by the secular canons of St. Wereburg of Chester, 
from whom it was taken by William, and given by him to Hugh Lupus, 
who granted it to the Benedictine Monks."

The manor was held under the Abbots by a family who bore the local 
name of Sotowiche, and must therefore have belonged to the original Saxon 
stock; and in their holding, it continued until the reign of Edward I., when 
Alice de Shotwicke conveyed it-away by her marriage to Robert de 
Hockenhall. In the 15th year of the reign of Henry VII. we find one of 
the Hockenhalls in a plea to a quo warranto, claiming in virtue of his 
holding Shotwick, the right of fishery in those parts of the river Dee, which 
ran past his manor, with the privilege of keeping " all that comes to the 
net," excepting and always provided against " the dainty bits, the whalle, 
sturgion, and thorlehede," which were ordered to be reserved for the use of 
the Earl at Chester Castle ; and in lieu thereof, the lord of the manor was 
allowed a certain fixed fee or reward. Shotwick continued in possession of 
the family of Hockenhall until the year 1715; when through the dis­ 
turbances of the times and other adverse circumstances, the proprietors 
were obliged to mortgage the estate. Not afterwards being able to redeem
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it from debt, the lands were sold, and became the property of John Nevitt 
Bennett, Esq., of Chester, in whose family it still remains.

The village of Shotwick, sometimes called Shotwick Church-town, is 
about five and a half miles distant from Chester, two miles from the old 
King's Ferry over the Dee, and nearly three miles from the Railway Station, 
at Button, standing on the banks of the Dee marshes. It was formerly in 
immediate proximity to its deep waters, but the silting up of that once fine 
river, making it requisite to form a new channel for the purposes of 
commerce, the water-course was so far removed from its original way, that 
it is only at spring tides and particular states of the wind that the waters 
now approach it. Even then, they do not do so to any great extent; so that in 
reality, the church is at the present time nearly a mile from the navigable 
channel of the river.

The church, dedicated to St. Michael, is a perpetual curacy, in the 
patronage of the Dean and Chapter of Chester, and returned in the clergy 
list of 1841 at the annual value of £88. The present incumbent is the 
Rev. James Cottingham. It consists of a large, square, well-proportioned, 
and embattled tower, a nave, a north aisle, a chancel, and a small chapel at 
the eastern termination of the aisle. The chancel is divided from the 
chapel by two low obtusely formed arches, springing from massive octagonal 
pillars ; while the aisle and body of the church are separated by a range of 
four acutely pointed arches, resting upon octagonal columns of similar 
strength to those which intervene between the chapel and the chancel. 
The roof is open to the apex ; very rude, but strongly constructed of oak : 
the timbers rest upon very large brackets, lying across the wall formed by 
the arches, which occupy nearly the middle of the church ; and the ends of 
the brackets being ornamented with grotesque heads and leafage scrolls, 
the whole has a durable and rather picturesque appearance. The 
windows have been richly decorated with emblazonry, figures, and other 
devices on the glass ; but only small fragments now remain, excepting in 
the side windows, one of which has the fleur cle lis and other flowers 
repeated alternately in all the panes, whilst another of them is nearly filled 
with the initials T. A., apparently an offertory window, and supposed to 
refer to Thomas Abbas, Yerdsley. Of the original fabric very little now 
remains ; it having been re-built externally in the fifteenth century, with 
the exception of the south doorway, which has a round arch, with three 
ranges of ornamentation, consisting of the quatrefoil, the chevron, and the




